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NINTH CIRCUIT OF THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

CIVIL RIGHTS ACT CIVIL LIABILITY: THREE-JUDGE PANEL GRANTS QUALIFIED IMMUNITY TO OFFICER WHO, IN RESPONDING TO A 911 CALL, FATALLY SHOT A MALE DV SUSPECT WHO HAD A KNIFE IN HAND AND IGNORED COMMANDS TO STOP AND A DEADLY FORCE WARNING WHILE ADVANCING TO WITHIN 10-T0-15 FEET OF A FEMALE DV VICTIM-COMPLAINANT; VIEWING THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE BEST LIGHT FOR PLAINTIFF, PANEL RULES THAT CASE LAW AS OF THE TIME OF THE SHOOTING HAD NOT ESTABLISHED THE UNLAWFULNESS OF USING DEADLY FORCE UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES; PANEL CHOOSES NOT TO ADDRESS LAWFULNESS OF THE SHOOTING UNDER THE CURRENT CONTOURS OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT 

Ventura v. Rutledge, ___ F.3d ___ , 2020 WL ___ (9th Cir., October 22, 2020)
Accessible at: https://cdn.ca9.uscourts.gov/datastore/opinions/2020/10/22/19-16626.pdf

Facts: (Excerpted from Ninth Circuit Opinion)

The following facts are undisputed. 
On December 24, 2015, Martha Andrade, the mother of [Omar Ventura’s] children, called 911 and reported that Omar had hit [Ms. Andrade] and his mother, Plaintiff [Ms. Maria Ventura], and had smashed [Ms. Andrade’s] vehicle’s window.  Officer Rutledge responded to the 911 call, which was classified as a violent domestic disturbance. 
When Officer Rutledge arrived at the home, Omar was not present.  While Officer Rutledge interviewed Andrade, Omar started walking up the street toward the home.  [Ms. Andrade] identified Omar to Officer Rutledge, pointing to him and exclaiming “that’s him.”
[Ms. Andrade] moved behind trash cans in the driveway as Omar continued to approach.  Officer Rutledge issued several orders for Omar to “stop.”  Despite these orders, Omar continued to advance toward Andrade and took out a knife from his pocket. 
Continuing to approach [Ms. Andrade] with knife in hand, Omar asked, “Is this what you wanted?”  Officer Rutledge then shouted a warning to Omar to “[s]top or I’ll shoot.”  When Omar did not stop, Officer Rutledge fired two shots at him.  The shots killed Omar.  At oral argument before the district court, the parties agreed that Omar got within 10–15 feet of Andrade before Officer Rutledge fired.

Proceedings below:

Ms. Andrade, Omar’s mother, sued Officer Rutledge and the City of Porterville Police Department.  The U.S. District Court granted the government defendants’ motion for summary judgment based on qualified immunity.  The District Court ruled that a grant of qualified immunity is required because no relevant court precedent is on point that would have informed Officer Rutledge that the Fourth Amendment bars use of deadly force under the alleged circumstances as viewed in the best light for the Plaintiff.

ISSUE AND RULING:  Viewing the allegations in the best light for the Plaintiff (i.e., Omar’s mother, Ms. Andrade), the circumstances of the fatal shooting involved an officer who, in responding to a 911 call, fatally shot a male domestic violence suspect who had a knife in hand and ignored the officer’s commands to stop and a deadly force warning while advancing to within 10-15 feet of a female  DV victim-complainant.  Is a grant of qualified immunity required because no relevant court precedent as of the time of the shooting (2015) is on point that would have clearly informed Officer Rutledge that the Fourth Amendment bars use of deadly force under the circumstances?  (ANSWER:  Yes, qualified immunity is required based on absence of a controlling precedent on point with the alleged facts)
Result:  Affirmance of U.S. District Court (Eastern District of California) grant of summary judgment to the government defendants based on qualified immunity from liability under the federal Civil Rights Act.  

ANALYSIS:  (Excerpted from the Ninth Circuit Opinion)

“Qualified immunity attaches when an [officer’s] conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known.”  Kisela v. Hughes, 138 S. Ct. 1148, 1152 (2018) . . .  Clearly established law exists when “‘[t]he contours of [a] right [are] sufficiently clear’ that every ‘reasonable [officer] would have understood that what [she] is doing violates that right.’”  Ashcroft v. al-Kidd, 563 U.S. 731, 741 (2011).  The precedent establishing this right must place the question “beyond debate.” . . .  In the Fourth Amendment excessive force context, “specificity is especially important,” Mullenix v. Luna, 136 S. Ct. 305, 308 (2015), and “thus police officers are entitled to qualified immunity unless existing precedent squarely governs the specific facts at issue,”  Kisela, 138 S. Ct. at 1153 . . . .
We consider two questions in determining whether an officer is entitled to qualified immunity: (1) whether the facts “taken in the light most favorable to the party asserting the injury show that the officers’ conduct violated a constitutional right” and (2) whether “the right was clearly established at the time of the alleged violation.”  Thompson v. Rahr, 885 F.3d 582, 586 (9th Cir. 2018) (quoting Saucier v. Katz, 533 U.S. 194, 201 (2001)). We may consider the two questions in any order. . . . We consider only the second question here.

The undisputed facts establish that (1) Officer Rutledge was responding to a violent domestic disturbance where Andrade had called 911 to report that Omar had hit her and Omar’s mother and had smashed the window of Andrade’s car; (2) Omar was approaching Andrade with a knife drawn; (3) Omar continued his advance while ignoring multiple commands from Officer Rutledge to stop and a warning that Officer Rutledge would shoot; and (4) Omar had advanced to within 10–15 feet of Andrade when Officer Rutledge fired.

The Supreme Court in Kisela considered a similar situation.  It concluded that, as of 2010, it was not clearly established in the Ninth Circuit that the use of deadly force was unconstitutional where the decedent “was armed with a large knife,” had advanced “within striking distance” of another individual, and was ignoring the officer’s orders to drop the knife. . . .  The Supreme Court also found that even though the decedent appeared calm and the other woman present did not feel endangered, the shooting officer did not violate clearly established law and was therefore entitled to qualified immunity. . . .
Omar posed at least as much of a threat as the decedent in Kisela.  Officer Rutledge was responding to a violent domestic dispute rather than the simple “check welfare” call in Kisela. . . . Omar had reportedly just assaulted Andrade and his own mother and had smashed the window of Andrade’s car.  He ignored Officer Rutledge’s repeated orders to stop and continued to advance toward Andrade with a knife.  Kisela shows that, as of 2010, there was no clearly established law demonstrating that Officer Rutledge’s use of deadly force was unconstitutional.

We also find that no intervening case gave Officer Rutledge notice that her actions would violate clearly established law – the cases Ventura cites are distinguishable in material ways.  
In Glenn v. Washington County, 673 F.3d 864 (9th Cir. 2011), the decedent had not previously attempted to hurt anyone and had not moved toward anyone else until after he was shot with a beanbag gun. . . .  
In George v. Morris, 736 F.3d 829 (9th Cir. 2013), while the officers were responding to a domestic disturbance call, decedent’s wife had not been previously assaulted, was not near the decedent, and there was a question of material fact as to whether the decedent, who was using a walker, had raised his gun toward the responding officers. . . . 

Finally, the opinion in Estate of Lopez v. Gelhaus, 871 F.3d 998 (9th Cir. 2017), not only postdates the incident here by two years, it also does not squarely govern the facts before us.  In Gelhaus, an officer shot a teenager who was walking with a toy gun that looked like an AK-47. . . . The teenager was suspected of no crime and was shot when he turned in response to a single order to drop his gun that came from behind. . . . 

The degrees of apparent danger in these cases do not “squarely govern” the facts here.  Omar was advancing with a knife toward a woman whom he had reportedly just assaulted.  He ignored Officer Rutledge’s repeated commands to stop and a warning that she would shoot. None of the cases Ventura cites involved an officer acting under similar circumstances as Officer Rutledge, and therefore, Ventura fails to show that it was clearly established that Officer Rutledge’s actions amounted to constitutionally excessive force. . . .
Officer Rutledge is entitled to qualified immunity.  

[Court’s footnote:  Ventura argues that there is a question of material fact as to whether Omar was “walking normally,” whether he appeared to be brandishing his knife, and whether Andrade felt threatened.  Resolution of these facts does not change our finding that Officer Rutledge did not violate clearly established law.  It was not clearly established, in 2015, that fatally shooting a person, who was armed with a knife and advancing toward someone whom he had reportedly just assaulted, and who ignored multiple commands to stop and a warning that the officer would fire, constituted constitutionally excessive force, even if the decedent was “walking normally,” did not appear to be “brandishing” his knife, and the intended victim did not feel threatened.]

[Some citations omitted, others revised for style; some parentheticals in the citations omitted; bolding added]
LEGAL UPDATE EDITOR’S COMMENT:  The Ventura Opinion does not expressly address whether the allegations might establish excessive force under the current case law on the contours of the Fourth Amendment (as opposed to the Opinion’s express declaration that relevant case law as of 2015 did not clearly establish that this was excessive force).  And the following point is just my own best guess based on the text and tenor of the Opinion, as well as my own knowledge of Ninth Circuit and U.S. Supreme Court precedent.  But I think that the Opinion provides support for the proposition that Officer Rutledge was justified in the use of deadly force under (1) the facts described in the Ventura Opinion, and (2) the current case law on the Fourth Amendment reasonableness standard.  
I also remind readers that, as always, the Legal Update does not speak for any person or entity other than me, and that it is published as a research source only and does not purport to furnish legal advice.  I urge law enforcement officers to discuss issues with their agencies’ legal advisors and/or their local prosecutors.  

CIVIL RIGHTS ACT CIVIL LIABILITY:  THREE RULINGS IN EXCESSIVE FORCE LAWSUIT  – (A) OFFICER A’S SHOOTING OF KNIFE-ARMED DV SUSPECT WITH BEANBAGS WAS REASONABLE (2-1 VOTE); (B) OFFICER B’S CAUSING OF PHYSICAL INJURY THROUGH KNEELING ON THE PRONE, HANDCUFFED AND NON-RESISTING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE SUSPECT’S BACK WAS NOT REASONABLE, AND CASE LAW WAS WELL-ESTABLISHED ON THIS POINT WHEN THE OFFICER DID THIS (2-1 VOTE); (C) OFFICER C CANNOT BE HELD LIABLE FOR NOT INTERCEDING WITH FELLOW OFFICERS BECAUSE OFFICER C HAD NO REASONABLE OPPORTUNITY TO DO SO    

Cortesluna v. Leon, ___ F.3d ___ , 2020 WL ___ (9th Cir., October 27, 2020)

Accessible at:  https://cdn.ca9.uscourts.gov/datastore/opinions/2020/10/27/19-15105.pdf

LEGAL UPDATE EDITOR’S NOTE:  Because of self-imposed limits on space and time-commitment, the Legal Update will give only summary treatment of the lengthy legal analysis by the three judges in their separate opinions.  I expect that many Legal Update readers will want to the web location provided immediately above and read all three opinions for an understanding of the three judges’ reasonableness analysis.  I will provide at the end of this entry the Judge Graber Lead Opinion’s description of the essentially undisputed facts of this case.  
Voting by the three Ninth Circuit judges in the Cortesluna case is as follows:
	
	Judge Graber
	Judge Gilman
	Judge Collins

	Defendant Officer Leon

(Shot bean bags)
	Force was reasonable


	Force was not reasonable
	Force was reasonable

	Defendant Officer Rivas-Villegas

(Kneeled on back)
	Force was not reasonable
	Force was not reasonable
	Force was reasonable

	Defendant Sergeant Kensic

(Did not intervene to stop the two officers)
	Actions were reasonable because of lack of realistic opportunity
	Actions were reasonable because of lack of realistic opportunity
	Actions were reasonable because of lack of realistic opportunity


In the Cortesluna case, the result of split voting by the three judges on the panel results in the Court affirming in part and reversing in part a U.S. District Court judgment that granted summary judgment to the government civil defendants on all of the merits issues in this lawsuit brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (the federal Civil Rights Act) and under state law causes of action.   

The lawsuit alleges that police officers of the Union City (CA) Police Department used excessive force in effecting the arrest of Plaintiff, Ramon Cortesluna, in a police response to a domestic violence scene.  Plaintiff alleges: (1) that Officer Manuel Leon used excessive force in shooting Plaintiff twice with bean bags; (2) Officer Daniel Rivas-Villegas used excessive force in kneeling on Plaintiff’s back (while Plaintiff was prone, handcuffed and not actively resisting) in a manner that caused physical injury; and (3) Officer Robert Kensic violated the Fourth Amendment by not interceding to stop the alleged excessive force.  

Each of the three Ninth Circuit judges (Graber, Gilman and Collins) authors an opinion in the case.  Their voting is shown in the chart above.  The result of their voting in the case is that only one of the three officers (Officer Rivas-Villegas, who kneeled on the Plaintiff’s back) must go to trial, assuming no reconsideration by the Ninth Circuit.

Officer Leon’s shooting of Plaintiff twice with bean bags was reasonable
The Lead Opinion by Judge Graber declares that, taking Plaintiff’s version of the facts as true, as is required at this summary judgment stage of the proceedings, a reasonable jury would not find a Fourth Amendment violation by Officer Leon in twice shooting Plaintiff with bean bags because Officer Leon’s acts were objectively reasonable under the circumstances. That is because: (1) the alleged crime was severe, in that a twelve-year-old girl told a 911 dispatcher that Plaintiff had threatened his girlfriend and her daughters with a chainsaw; (2) Officer Leon faced an immediate threat, in that Plaintiff had a knife in the left pocket of his pants and had lowered his hands toward his thighs and thus toward the knife, after which Officer Leon hit Plaintiff with a first beanbag shot.  
And the Graber Lead Opinion determines that Plaintiff’s hands remained near the knife in his pocket at the time of the second beanbag shot.  Thus, the second shot was also justified.  Judge Collins’ Concurring & Dissenting Opinion agrees with Judge Graber on this issue.  On the other hand, Judge Gilman’s Concurring & Dissenting Opinion disagrees with the other two judges, arguing that a jury could reasonably find that the use of force was not reasonable.

Officer Rivas-Villegas’ injuring of Plaintiff by kneeling on Plaintiff’s back was not reasonable
The Graber Lead Opinion declares that the lawsuit against Officer Rivas-Villegas must go to trial because there is a genuine issue of issue of fact as to whether Officer Rivas-Villegas used excessive force when he kneeled on Plaintiff’s back and injured him while Plaintiff was lying face down on the ground in handcuffs and not actively resisting.  The Graber Lead Opinion also declares that qualified immunity must be denied to Officer Rivas-Villegas because controlling case law at the time of the incident had put officers on clear notice that kneeling on a prone and non-resisting handcuffed person’s back so hard as to cause injury in these circumstances is excessive.   

Judge Gilman’s Concurring & Dissenting Opinion agrees with Judge Graber that the injury by kneeling on the back must go to trial.  On the other hand, Judge Collins’ Concurring & Dissenting Opinion disagrees with the other two judges, arguing that as a matter of law the use of force was reasonable.

Sergeant Kensic’s failure to intervene was not a Fourth Amendment violation
All three judges agree that Sergeant Kensic did not commit a Fourth Amendment violation, determining that he lacked any realistic opportunity to intercede to stop the excessive force. 

Other merits issues in the case
Because the panel by 2-1 vote reversed the grant of summary judgment as to Officer Rivas-Villegas, the case is remanded to the U.S. District Court for consideration of the other elements of plaintiff’s claim against the City of Union City under Monell v. Department of Social Services, 436 U.S. 658 (1978).  Plaintiff contents under Monell that the kneeling injury is the result of custom or policy of the Union City Police Department.  For the same reason, the 2-1 vote of the panel reinstates for the trial court’s consideration on the merits the Plaintiff’s state-law claims relating to the kneeling injury. 

Description of the facts in the Graber Lead Opinion
After noting in footnote 1 that “[t]he underlying facts, except those regarding Plaintiff’s alleged injuries, are undisputed,” the Graber Lead Opinion describes the facts as follows:

On the night of November 6, 2016, a 911 dispatcher received a call in which a 12-year-old girl, I.R., reported that she, her mother, and her 15-year-old sister were barricaded in a room at their home because her mother’s boyfriend, Plaintiff, had a chainsaw and was going to attack them.  I.R. said that Plaintiff was “always drinking,” had “anger issues,” was “really mad,” and was using the chainsaw to “break something in the house.”  I.R. said that her mother was holding the door closed to prevent Plaintiff from entering and hurting them.  I.R.’s sister then took the phone and confirmed that Plaintiff was “right outside the bedroom door” and was “sawing on their door knob.”  A manual sawing sound was audible to the 911 operator. I.R.’s sister described Plaintiff and his clothing.

A police dispatcher requested that officers respond.  The dispatcher reported that a 12-year-old girl said that her mother’s boyfriend had a chainsaw and was trying to hurt her, her sister, and her mother, who were together in a room.  The dispatcher also relayed the girl’s statement that the boyfriend was “always drinking” and was using the chainsaw to break something in the house.  The dispatcher further reported that there had been another potentially related 911 call in the area and that, on that call, crying could be heard, but the caller hung up without speaking.

Defendants [Officer] Leon, [Officer] Rivas-Villegas, and [Sergeant] Kensic, along with two other police officers, responded to the scene.  When the first three officers, including Rivas-Villegas and Kensic, arrived, they observed Plaintiff’s home for several minutes and saw that “[Plaintiff] is right here” in his window and “doesn’t have anything in his hand” except, at some points, a beer.  The officers checked with dispatch to confirm that the caller really reported a chainsaw.  The dispatcher acknowledged “we can’t hear [a chainsaw] over the phone” but suggested that Plaintiff could be using the chainsaw “manually.”  One officer asked the 911 operator if the girl and her family could leave the house.  The operator replied that they were unable to get out and that, during the call, she heard sawing sounds in the background, as if the boyfriend were trying to saw the bedroom door down.

Defendant [Officer] Leon arrived at the scene later and might have heard the radioed conversation with the dispatcher.  When [Officer] Leon arrived, another officer told him, “so, he’s standing right here drinking a beer.  What do you think [about] just giving him commands, having him come out, and do a protective sweep?”  The officers formulated a plan to approach the house and “breach it with less lethal, if we need to,” a reference to [Officer] Leon’s beanbag shotgun.

[Officer] Rivas-Villegas knocked on the front door, stating, “[P]olice department, come to the front door, Union City police, come to the front door.”  A few seconds later, Plaintiff emerged through a sliding glass door near the front door, holding a large metal object.  [Sergeant] Kensic said,  “He’s coming . . . he’s got a weapon in his hand” that looks “like a crowbar.”  Plaintiff was ordered to “drop it,” which he did.  Meanwhile, [Officer] Leon said, “I’m going to hit him with less lethal,” that is, his beanbag shotgun, and told another officer to get out of his way.

[Officer] Rivas-Villegas then ordered Plaintiff to “come out, put your hands up, walk out towards me.”  Plaintiff put his hands up, as [Officer] Rivas-Villegas told Plaintiff to “keep coming.”

As Plaintiff walked out of the house and toward the officers, [Officer] Rivas-Villegas said, “Stop. Get on your knees.”  Plaintiff stopped approximately ten to eleven feet from the officers.  Immediately after [Officer] Rivas-Villegas’ order, [Sergeant] Kensic saw a knife in the front left pocket of Plaintiff’s sweatpants, and he announced that Plaintiff had “a knife in his left pocket, knife in his pocket.”  [Sergeant] Kensic then told Plaintiff, “[D]on’t, don’t put your hands down” and “hands up.”  After [Sergeant] Kensic shouted this last order, Plaintiff turned his head toward [Sergeant] Kensic, who was on Plaintiff’s left side, (and away from [Officer] Leon, who was on Plaintiff’s right side) and simultaneously lowered his head and his hands.  [Officer] Leon immediately shot Plaintiff with a beanbag round from his shotgun and quickly fired a second beanbag shot while Plaintiff’s hands were still in a downward position near his belly, where the first shot hit.  The second shot hit him on the hip.  Roughly two seconds elapsed between [Sergeant] Kensic’s “hands up” order and the second shot.

After the second shot, Plaintiff again raised his hands over his head.  The officers ordered him to “[G]et down.”  As Plaintiff was lowering himself to the ground, [Officer] Rivas-Villegas used his foot to push Plaintiff to the ground.  [Officer] Rivas-Villegas then pressed his knee into Plaintiff’s back and pulled Plaintiff’s arms behind his back. [Officer] Leon handcuffed Plaintiff’s hands while [Officer] Rivas-Villegas held his position.  A few moments later, [Officer] Rivas-Villegas lifted Plaintiff up by his handcuffed hands and moved him away from the doorway.  Other officers then entered the house, and the incident ended.

[Footnote omitted; some paragraphing revised for readability]

CIVIL RIGHTS ACT CIVIL LIABILITY: On reconsideration, 3-judge ninth circuit panel is unanimous in again holding that OFFICERS USED REASONABLE FORCE WHEN THEY SHOT AND KILLED THE ADULT SON OF PLAINTIFFS FOLLOWING A HIGH-SPEED CHASE where he was (1) ignoring their commands to stop the van, and (2) was driving near, toward, and amongst the ON-FOOT officers      

Monzon v. City of Murietta, ___ F.3d ___ , 2020 WL ___ (9th Cir., October 27, 2020) 
Accessible at: https://cdn.ca9.uscourts.gov/datastore/opinions/2020/10/27/19-15105.pdf  

[LEGAL UPDATE EDITOR’S NOTE: In the July 2020 Legal Update, I digested the July 22, 2020 Opinion in Monzon. The revised Monzon Opinion issued on October 27, 2020 does not appear to contain any significant changes from the July 22, 2020 Opinion.  But because the July 2020 Legal Update is not accessible on any website, I am digesting the October 27, 2020 decision here.  I am making no significant change from the content of my digesting of the July 22, 2020 Monzon Opinion three months ago.]
In Monzon, a three-judge Ninth Circuit panel issues a slightly revised unanimous Opinion that, as in the panel’s July 22, 2020 Opinion, affirms the U.S. district court’s summary judgment for the government defendants in a Civil Rights Act lawsuit alleging that police officers used unreasonable deadly force when they shot and killed Junef Regadio Monzon following a high-speed chase.  The officers shot him at a point when Monzon was ignoring the officers’ commands to stop his van, and he was driving near, toward, and amongst the on-foot officers.  The lawsuit was brought by Monzon’s parents.  
A “summary” by Ninth Circuit staff synopsizes the 3-judge panel’s unanimous Opinion in  Monzon as follows (the staff summary is not part of the Ninth Circuit’s decision; note that the subheadings have been added by the Legal Update Editor): 

[1.  Deadly force was objectively reasonable under the totality of the circumstances]
The panel held that that the officers’ use of deadly force was objectively reasonable given the dynamic and urgent situation, where officers were faced with the immediate threat of significant physical harm.  The panel noted that first, the severity of Monzon’s crime weighed in favor of the use of force.  Monzon led officers on a dangerous high-speed chase at night, and he refused to stop his van at the behest of officers even after coming to the end of a street.  
Second, Monzon posed an immediate threat to the safety of the officers when he ignored commands to stop the van and drove near, toward, and amongst the officers [who were] on foot.  
Third, Monzon’s driving endangered the officers and left them with only seconds to consider less severe alternatives.  
Finally, a reasonable officer in the position of the individual defendant officers would have probable cause to believe that Monzon posed an immediate threat to the safety of one or more of the other officers or himself.
[2.  Even if one assumes that use of deadly force was not reasonable, qualified immunity applies because the officer did not violate a clearly established right under the case law extant at the time of the shooting]
The panel held that even if the officers’ use of deadly force was not reasonable on the uncontested facts of this case (which it was), the second prong of the qualified immunity analysis would still compel affirming the district court because the officers did not violate a clearly established right.  The panel further rejected [1] plaintiffs’ claims that the City failed to train the officers, and [2] plaintiffs’ claims brought under state law.
[Some paragraphing revised for readability; subheadings added]

Result:  Affirmance of summary judgment order in favor of the government defendants by the U.S. District Court (Central District of California) in this Civil Rights Act lawsuit alleging that police officers used unreasonable deadly force when they shot and killed Junef Monzon following a high-speed chase.
Status:  Plaintiffs’ request for review by an 11-judge panel has been denied.  Time remains for Plaintiffs to seek review in the United States Supreme Court.   

LEGAL UPDATE EDITORIAL NOTES FROM THE MONZON OPINION: A self-imposed combination of limits of space and time-commitment has led me to give abbreviated treatment to Monzon v. City of Murietta decision of the Ninth Circuit.  I expect that many of the Legal Update readers will want to read the actual Monzon decision to study the extensive complex facts and lengthy legal analysis.  I am providing here some excerpts from the Court’s legal analysis.  I caution readers that full context is best provided by reading the entire Monzon Opinion.

1.  Lack of warning prior to shooting is not dispositive against the use of deadly force:  
Under the Fourth Amendment case law, a factor in assessing reasonableness is whether, if practicable, officers gave a warning before using deadly force.  The Monzon Court explains that it was not practicable to give a warning before shooting in this case: 
[W]e take note that the officers did not provide a deadly force warning.  But this fact is not determinative. The urgency of this chaotic situation made a deadly force warning impractical because the van went from a standstill to crashing into a cruiser at over 17 mph in 4.5 seconds.  

And assuming that Monzon put his hands up in the air, we cannot look at that fact in isolation and ignore the quickly changing situation.  The uncontested fact that Monzon was still driving and turning his car toward the officers while allegedly raising his hands in surrender (after having just hit a fence post and finishing a high-speed chase) must also be taken into account.  

In that circumstance, it was objectively reasonable for the officers to believe that whatever else Monzon was doing, he was not surrendering.  A reasonable officer in the position of [each of the five officers] would have probable cause to believe that Monzon posed an immediate threat to the safety of one or more of the other officers or himself as Monzon drove his car toward and among the five officers.

[Some paragraphing revised for readability]

2.  The government is not required to separately justify every single shot taken under reasonableness analysis:
The Monzon Court explains in footnote 7 that under U.S. Supreme Court precedent, when officers are justified in using deadly force, they need not reassess the rapidly unfolding circumstances after each shot that is fired:

In contrast to plaintiffs’ argument that officers must justify every shot, the Supreme Court in [Plumhoff v. Rickard, 572 U.S. 765, 777 (2014)] observed that “‘if lethal force is justified officers are taught to keep shooting until the threat is over,’” and “officers need not stop shooting until the threat has ended.” 

3.  Plaintiffs’ claims that Monzon was driving at a “slow” rate of speed as he drove toward the on-foot officers fails to recognize the threat to the officers that he posed:

In key part, the Monzon Court’s explanation of this proposition is as follows: 
[The] evidence shows that Monzon accelerated from a full stop to 15 mph in one second (4.5 to 3.5 seconds before the crash), never braked, and was moving at least 25 feet every second when he ran the van into the police cruiser.  [Court’s footnote 9:  Plaintiffs acknowledge that Monzon’s van accelerated to at least 16 mph one second before crashing into Mikowski’s cruiser.  And the black box data that plaintiffs rely on tells us that the van was traveling at 17.4 mph at the time of impact.]  

Moreover, like in [Wilkinson v. Torres, 610 F.3d 546 (9th Cir., 2010)], the officers were aware that the van headed in their direction could accelerate dangerously and without notice at any moment.  Given the hazardous predicament Monzon had put them in, the officers’ actions were reasonable.

Plaintiffs repeatedly emphasize the “slow” speed of the van, but this fact, taken as true, does not distinguish this case from Wilkinson because the minivan in Wilkinson was also not moving fast when the officers fired.  (“Although the vehicle was moving at a slow rate of speed because of the slippage, it could have gained traction at any time, resulting in a sudden acceleration in speed.” [citing Wilkinson]). 

Here, it is undisputed that the van’s event data recorder, or “black box,” shows that the van’s acceleration pedal was repeatedly pressed down between 80 and 99 percent during the very short 4.5 seconds from start to impact, and the van reached a speed of over 17 mph before hitting [Officer] Mikowski’s cruiser.  Just like Rickard accelerated after a temporary stop in [the U.S. Supreme Court decision in Plumhoff v. Rickard, 572 U.S. 765, 777 (2014)], Monzon was obviously accelerating.   

And even a van traveling at only 10 mph moves approximately 15 feet every second, which is significant when a van that has been driven erratically is moving in close proximity to officers.

[Some paragraphing revised for readability; some citations omitted, some citations revised for style]
CIVIL RIGHTS ACT CIVIL LIABILITY: THREE-JUDGE PANEL EXPLAINS THAT CALIFORNIA LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS, UNLIKE WASHINGTON OFFICERS, MAY MAKE A TERRY STOP BASED ON REASONABLE SUSPICION THAT A PERSON IS CARRYING A CONCEALED FIREARM;  THAT IS BECAUSE, BASED ON CALIFORNIA LAW AND CCW-ISSUANCE PRACTICE, CARRYING A CONCEALED FIREARM IS PRESUMED TO BE UNLAWFUL, WHILE UNDER WASHINGTON LAW AND CCW-ISSUANCE PRACTICE, CARRYING A CONCEALED FIREARM IS NOT PRESUMED TO BE UNLAWFUL; PANEL SPLITS 2-1 ON IN RULING THAT REASONABLE SUSPICION WAS ESTABLISHED BASED ON A CALIFORNIA OFFICER’S TESTIMONY ABOUT OBSERVING A BULGE IN A SWEATSHIRT THAT THE OFFICER’S OBSERVATION AND EXPERIENCE LED HIM TO BELIEVE WAS A GUN   
United States. v. Bontemps, ___ F.3d ___ , ___ WL ___ (9th Cir., October 13, 2020) 
Accessible at: https://cdn.ca9.uscourts.gov/datastore/opinions/2020/10/13/19-10195.pdf
In Bontemps, a 3-judge Ninth Circuit panel affirms a California U.S. District Court order denying defendant’s suppression motion.  Bontemps then pleaded guilty conditioned on his right to appeal of his conviction for violating federal law by being a convicted felon in possession of a firearm.   

The 3-judge panel appears to agree on the proposition that in light of California law and a very restrictive practice regarding the agencies’ issuance of permits to carry concealed firearms, California officers who do not know whether a person has a concealed carry permit may make a Terry stop of a person if the officers have reasonable suspicion that the person is carrying a concealed firearm.  But the judges split in 2-1 ruling that reasonable suspicion for a stop was established through an officer’s testimony about seeing a suspicious bulge in a person’s sweatshirt.  There were no other suspicious circumstances, but the officer testified that based on his observation of the bulge and his experience with similar circumstances of suspicious upper body clothing bulges, he made a Terry stop and frisk because the officer believed that he had reasonable suspicion that the young man who was walking with three other young men had a handgun concealed under the sweatshirt.  
The Majority Opinion in Bontemps notes that the four young men were African-Americans, but neither the Majority Opinion nor the Dissenting Opinion assigns any significance to that fact. 

1.  Majority Opinion’s discussion of California law on carrying concealed firearms
The Ninth Circuit Majority Opinion in Bontemps explains that the starting point for Terry stop analysis in this case requires recognition that California statutes and practices for the issuance of permits to carry firearms concealed provide a general presumption that carrying a firearm concealed in California is unlawful.  In discussing relevant Ninth Circuit precedent, the Majority Opinion also explains that Washington State statutes and practices relating to carrying firearms concealed are different and do not create a presumption that carrying a firearm concealed is unlawful.  
The Bontemps Majority Opinion explains as follows:
In California, evidence that a person is concealing a firearm provides an adequate basis to suspect illegal activity, and thus grounds to initiate a Terry stop.  Circuit precedent is clear on this point.  In Foster v. City of Indio, 908 F.3d 1204 (9th Cir. 2018) (per curiam), we held that “[w]here state law makes it generally unlawful to carry a concealed weapon without a permit, a tip that a person is carrying a concealed firearm raises a reasonable suspicion of potential criminal activity” under Terry.  That is so “even if the tip does not state that the person is carrying the firearm illegally or is about to commit a crime.” 
Under California law, which Bontemps does not challenge here, it is generally illegal to carry a concealed firearm in public.  See Cal. Penal Code § 25400.  In Foster, we held that “[g]iven the insignificant number of concealed carry permits issued in California, a reasonable officer could conclude that there is a high probability that a person identified in a 911 call as carrying a concealed handgun is violating California’s gun laws.”  We concluded the officer in Foster could therefore reasonably make a Terry stop based on this information.  We held similarly in another more recent case.  See United States v. Vandergroen, 964 F.3d 876, 881–82 (9th Cir. 2020) (holding that officers had reasonable suspicion to justify a stop based on a 911 call reporting that the defendant had a gun “on him” because “possessing a concealed weapon” is “presumptively unlawful in California”).

Under our case law, the reasonable suspicion analysis is different in a jurisdiction that has different rules for carrying concealed weapons.  See United States v. Brown, 925 F.3d 1150, 1153–54 (9th Cir. 2019) (holding that a tip that an individual “had a gun” in Washington did not support a reasonable suspicion of wrongdoing because carrying a firearm is “presumptively lawful in Washington”).  But Bontemps was carrying a concealed (not to mention loaded) weapon in California, and such conduct is “presumptively a crime” in that State.  
[Some citations omitted, others revised for style; bolding added]

[LEGAL UPDATE EDITOR’S COMMENT:  The phrase in the parenthetical (“not to mention loaded”) in the final sentence in the final paragraph of the above excerpt seems misplaced because the officer had no suspicion that the firearm was loaded until after making the stop.]
2.  The Majority Opinion supports as follows its conclusion that the trial court did not err in concluding that the officer’s experience and his observation of the bulge added up to reasonable suspicion that Bontemps had a handgun under his sweatshirt:
The Ninth Circuit Majority Opinion in Bontemps explains in key part:
Bontemps initially argued on appeal that a bulge alone is necessarily unreliable because the bulge could be anything (his examples: candy, a gift, or a “post-mastectomy prosthetic”).  But Bontemps ultimately acknowledged at oral argument what is, of course, true: that in some circumstances a bulge could be an obvious indicator of a concealed firearm – for example, a bulge underneath a tight-fitting shirt that clearly reflects the distinct outline of a large gun.

. . . .

[T]hat a bulge can give rise to reasonable suspicion of a concealed firearm inheres in how illicit weapons are typically held on the person.  A concealed weapon is necessarily obscured by something, typically clothing.  A rule that always required more than a suggestive bulge, or that required the concealed weapon to be revealed, would run counter to Terry’s fact-based standard and pose obvious safety concerns. . . .
. . . .

[] Bontemps argues that the bulge in his sweatshirt was not suggestive of a firearm, citing cases involving searches premised on bulges perceived to be drugs.  In those cases, courts held that the bulges in question did not create either reasonable suspicion to search or probable cause to arrest.  [citing cases] . . . .

Cases involving “drug bulges,” however, present somewhat different considerations than “gun bulges” under the fact-based Terry inquiry.  While guns are made of rigid materials (such as metal or hard plastics) and possess a relatively distinctive shape, drugs or packages of drugs come in different shapes and sizes, some quite small, soft, and nondescript. . . . 

While “drug” bulge cases involve some different considerations owing to the physical differences between pocketed drugs and concealed guns, Bontemps’s overall concern with indiscriminate stops based on bulges alone remains a valid one in the concealed firearm context.  And it is a concern of which we are mindful.  In this case, however, we conclude that the district court’s basis for finding reasonable suspicion was soundly supported in the record based on factual findings that were not clearly erroneous. . . . And those facts, taken together, created reasonable suspicion of criminal activity.

Detective Tonn testified that he saw a “very large and obvious bulge in Mr. Bontemps’ sweatshirt” that appeared, based on his training and experience, to be a concealed firearm.  After a hearing in which the district court was actively engaged and observed [Detectives Tonn and Barreto] testify, including after cross-examination, the district court credited [Detective] Tonn’s account based on Tonn’s firsthand description of what he saw and his base of knowledge as a law enforcement officer.

Our fine colleague in dissent maintains that [Detective] Tonn only testified to seeing a “non-descript bulge.”  That is not correct.  Far from regarding the bulge as “non-descript,” Tonn testified that Bontemps had a bulge on his “body consistent with my training and experience as a police officer, consistent with carrying a firearm in public.”  [Detective] Tonn thus believed Bontemps was “carrying a firearm” based on the “obvious bulge in Mr. Bontemps’ sweatshirt on his left side about his waist.”  Tonn repeatedly described the bulge as a “very obvious bulge,” a “very large and obvious protrusion coming from his left side,” and “fairly obvious.”  The bulge was “obvious” to [Detective] Tonn for one reason: it was an “obvious indicator[] of having a firearm.”
The dissent is thus mistaken in claiming there was “no evidence to suggest that the bulge Detective Tonn saw in this case was anything special.”  And the dissent is equally mistaken in asserting that “Detective Tonn never described the bulge as obviously a firearm.”  That was the central point Tonn repeatedly made throughout his testimony.  While our cases “have given significant weight to an officer’s observation of a visible bulge in an individual’s clothing that could indicate the presence of a weapon,” . . . the dissent gives [Detective] Tonn’s observations no weight.

Nothing about the district court’s central factual finding was “illogical” or “implausible.” . . . .   On the contrary, it enjoys ample support in the record.  From his vantage point in a slowly moving SUV that had decelerated further to get a good look, Tonn could “very clearly” see Bontemps, who was not “very far away” on the opposite side of a residential street in broad daylight.  Bontemps was also carrying a gun in a shoulder holster, and thus on a part of his body where other items would be less likely to be held . . . . Tonn also immediately recognized the bulge as a gun based on his training and “all the numerous people I’ve stopped.”
While the fact-driven nature of a Terry analysis does not mean any one of these factors is necessary to justify an investigatory stop such as this, they were sufficient in this case when considered together. . . .  The dissent is thus incorrect in implying that our holding allows any bulge of any kind to justify a Terry stop.  Our holding is instead that a bulge suggestive of a firearm can be sufficient to create reasonable suspicion, and that in this case there was ample evidence from which to conclude that Bontemps’s “obvious” bulge was likely a concealed firearm.

. . . .

The officers’ bodycam footage also clearly supports [Detective] Tonn’s testimony.  This footage is not necessary to our holding, but we note it as corroborative.  The district court found, and the parties do not dispute, that the seizure began when the officers ordered the men to stop.  The bodycam footage for the most part depicts events after the seizure had already occurred.  But we agree with the district court that this footage plainly supports [Detective] Tonn’s testimony because it shows an obvious bulge on Bontemps’s sweatshirt that distinctly resembles the shape of a firearm.  And contrary to the dissent, the bodycam footage shows a gun-shaped bulge both when Bontemps’s hands were raised and when they were down.  In short, this was simply not a case where Bontemps was stopped for a nondescript bulge, with officers lucking upon a gun. . . . . 
Bontemps seeks to avoid this conclusion by citing statistics concerning frisks in other jurisdictions.  See David Rudovsky & David A. Harris, Terry Stops-and-Frisks: The Troubling Use of Common Sense in a World of Empirical Data, 79 Ohio State L.J. 502, 541–42 (2018).  For example, he cites a study of 2.3 million frisks for weapons in New York City between 2004 and 2012, in which weapons were reportedly uncovered in 1.5% of the searches. . . .  Bontemps also cites data from New York City in the years 2014 to 2016, reportedly showing that “of 220 frisks based on a ‘bulge,’ only one weapon was seized, a hit rate of less than 0.5%.” . . . .
These statistics do not undermine the district court’s factual findings here.  The statistics were not introduced below, and we generally “consider only the district court record on appeal.” . . . .  Regardless, they do not change the outcome of this case.  Even taking the data at face value, statistics on the percentage of weapons recovered during Terry stops generally (and in a different jurisdiction) say nothing about whether the officers in this case had reasonable suspicion to detain Bontemps based on the “very large and obvious bulge in Mr. Bontemps’ sweatshirt” that a trained detective observed.  And Bontemps nowhere explains whether the data he cites concerning “220 frisks based on a bulge” involved bulges as distinctive as the one here.

Permitting aggregate data to dictate the result in this case would risk abrogating our duty to examine “each case to see whether the detaining officer has a ‘particularized and objective basis’ for suspecting legal wrongdoing.” . . . .  We can acknowledge that the studies Bontemps cites raise valid questions, while at the same time holding that the district court in this case – based on the officer testimony it permissibly credited—did not err in denying Bontemps’s motion to suppress.
[Citations omitted; bolding added]
Result:  Affirmance of U.S. District Court (Eastern District of California) denial of defendant’s suppression motion, and affirmance of conviction for being a felon in possession of a firearm in violation of federal law.
*********************************
WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS

THIRD DEGREE ASSAULT OF A CHILD: EVIDENCE HELD TO BE INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT CONVICTION; COURT’S RATIONALE IS THAT DEFENDANT DID NOT CAUSE TODDLER TO EXPERIENCE SUBSTANTIAL PAIN THAT ENDURED FOR A PERIOD LONG ENOUGH TO CAUSE CONSIDERABLE SUFFERING 

In State v. Loos,   ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, 2020 WL ___ (Div. I, October 5, 2020), Division One of the Court of Appeals rules that the State failed to present sufficient evidence that the defendant’s actions caused the toddler in her care to experience substantial pain that endured for a period of time long enough to cause considerable suffering.  
The defendant took her own children and some children she was babysitting to the river for swimming.  One of the children in her care was a boy about two-and-a-half years old who was speech-delayed and nonverbal.  Defendant was observed repeatedly submerging that child, which the defendant defended at her trial with an explanation along the lines of acclimating the toddler to the water as a survival skill for the toddler.

For her actions with the toddler, the defendant was charged with Third Degree Assault of a Child.  At the close of the State’s case at trial, defendant moved to dismiss the charge for lack of evidence of the crime.  The trial court denied the charge and also ruled that the jury could be instructed on Fourth Degree Assault as an inferior degree crime to the original charge.  The jury did not convict on Third Degree Assault of a Child, but the jury did convict on the charge of Fourth Degree Assault. 

The Court of Appeals rules that Fourth Degree Assault is not an inferior degree to Third Degree Assault of a Child, and, because the State did not originally charge Fourth Degree Assault, the jury should not have been allowed to consider that charge.  

The Court of Appeals then addresses the issue of whether the State should be allowed to re-try defendant for Third Degree Assault of a Child.  That issue requires analysis of whether the evidence presented at trial was sufficient to support that charge.  The analysis on this issue by the Court of Appeals in support of its answer in the negative is as follows:
The State chose to charge Loos with third degree assault of a child under RCW 9A.36.140.  This decision imposed on the State the obligation to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Loos negligently caused “bodily harm accompanied by substantial pain that extends for a period sufficient to cause considerable suffering” to a person under the age of 13.  RCW 9A.36.140; RCW 9A.36.031(1)(f).

RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a) defines “bodily harm” as “physical pain or injury, illness, or an impairment of physical condition[.]”  And this pain or impairment must be accompanied by “substantial pain.”  Although the statute does not define “substantial pain,” in State v. McKague, 172 Wn.2d 802 (2011), the Supreme Court held the word “substantial” as used in RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a) “signifies a degree of harm that is considerable and necessarily requires a showing greater than an injury merely having some existence.”  It approved the dictionary definition meaning “considerable in amount, value, or worth.”
We see no reason to adopt any different meaning of “substantial” as used in RCW 9A.36.031(1)(f).  And the legislature, by requiring that the pain must last long enough to cause “considerable suffering,” clearly indicated a durational requirement.  The State must demonstrate that the amount of pain the victim experienced was considerable and the pain the victim experienced lasted for a significant period of time.

This interpretation of RCW 9A.36.031(1)(f) is consistent with this court’s past cases in which we have concluded, for example, that evidence of substantial pain and considerable suffering was sufficient where the State proved that the victim suffered a headache that lasted more than two weeks, extensive bruising, and a black eye.  State v. Robertson, 88 Wn. App. 836, 841 (1997).

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the eye witnesses’ testimony, combined with the State’s expert’s testimony, was sufficient to establish that J.T.S.’s coughing when pulled out of the water caused him some physical pain.  Dr. Brown testified that the coughing probably indicated he had gotten some amount of water in his airway.  But neither the testimony nor the 51-second video of the incident supports any contention that J.T.S. was unable to quickly and easily eliminate the water from his throat or that he remained in any pain once he did so.  
The evidence was undisputed at trial that J.T.S. did not require CPR, did not vomit, did not lose consciousness, did not appear to have any swelling of his belly, did not sustain any lung injury, and needed no medical treatment.  There is no evidence J.T.S. was inconsolable as a result of any ongoing pain or that any momentary pain he may have experienced lasted for any period of time after he coughed and Loos removed him from the water.

. . . .

The State also presented evidence that two months after the incident, J.T.S. became agitated when visiting a relative and his mother tried to encourage J.T.S. to swim in the relative’s pool.  While this event may suggest Loos’s swimming lesson caused J.T.S. to fear water, it in no way suggests J.T.S. sustained any ongoing physical injury.  
In State v. Saunders, this court concluded that the statute at issue here “proscribes the infliction of bodily harm, not the infliction of emotional pain.”  132 Wn. App. 592, 599 (2006).  Any psychological injury Loos may have inflicted on J.T.S. is not the type of conduct RCW 9A.36.031(1)(f) criminalizes.

. . . .

No reasonable jury could conclude that J.T.S. suffered substantial pain that extended for a period sufficient to cause considerable suffering.  The State therefore failed to present sufficient evidence to establish that Loos committed third degree assault of a child.  The trial court erred in denying Loos’s motion to dismiss this charge at the conclusion of the State’s case-in-chief.

[Footnote omitted; some citations omitted, other citations revised for style; some paragraphing revised for readability]

Result:  Reversal of Snohomish County Superior Court conviction of Katrina R. Loos for Fourth Degree Assault (because the original charge was Third Degree Assault of a Child), along with a ruling that the State is not permitted to re-try Loos for Third Degree Assault of a Child.
“FURTHERANCE” ELEMENT OF FELONY MURDER STATUTE IS EXPLAINED; THE REQUIREMENT IS MET WHERE (1) SHOOTING OF VICTIM OCCURRED WITHIN SECONDS OF THE UNDERLYING FELONY-ASSAULT WITH BEAR SPRAY, AND (2) THE SHOOTING WAS A PROBABLE CONSEQUENCE OF THE SPRAYING
In State v. Jennings, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___ , 2020 WL ___ (Div. II, October 7, 2020), defendant shot and killed a man.  The evidence at trial regarding the events surrounding the shooting was conflicting, but the Court of Appeals indicates that the below description of the facts (as paraphrased by the Legal Update editor) is supported by evidence in the record.  

Defendant had gone with a hot-head, methamphetamine-using friend to a home where the hot-head friend planned to retrieve his car.  Defendant anticipated trouble with one of more of the methamphetamine-using occupants of the home, so for self-defense purposes he armed himself beforehand with bear spray and a gun.  
When, upon arrival at the home, the hot-head friend’s car was not there, a fight started between the hot-head friend and one of the home’s occupants who, like the hot-head friend, appeared at the time to be under the influence of methamphetamine.  Defendant sprayed the scuffling men.  The home-occupant scuffler then turned toward and began advancing on defendant, at which point, only seconds after the bear-spraying, the defendant shot and killed the victim.

A jury convicted defendant of second degree felony murder.  On appeal, he argued that the evidence was insufficient to support the “furtherance” element of the felony murder statute.  The Court of Appeals explains as follows why it rejects that argument:   
Under RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b), a defendant can be convicted of second degree felony murder if the State proves that they “commit[ted] . . . any felony, including assault, other than those enumerated in RCW 9A.32.030(1)(c), and, in the course of and in furtherance of such crime or in immediate flight therefrom . . . cause[d] the death of a person other than one of the participants.”

To prove felony murder, “there must be an ‘intimate connection’ between the killing and the felony.”  State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 608 (1997) . . . . We avoid “apply[ing] too literal an interpretation” of the in furtherance requirement. . . . Rather, we assess whether the killing was close in time and distance to the underlying felony. . . .  
To prove that a killing constituted second degree felony murder under RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b), “the State must prove ‘that the death was a probable consequence of the felony,’” and “‘that the felony began before the killing.’” . . . . 
. . . .
The to convict instruction for second degree felony murder under RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b) required the State to prove the underlying felony of second degree assault (the bear spray attack) and that Jennings caused Burton’s death “in the course of and in furtherance of” the assault “or in immediate flight” from it.

[Court’s footnote:  Jennings does not dispute that he committed the underlying second degree assault when he sprayed Burton with bear spray. The State was also required to prove that Burton was not a participant in the crime and that the events took place in Washington. Jennings also does not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence regarding these elements.]

Jennings argues that he did not shoot Burton “in furtherance of the bear mace assault,” because the assault with the bear spray was “complete” prior to the shooting.  Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the jury could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Jennings shot Burton in the course of the assault because Jennings sprayed the bear spray and then shot Burton only seconds later. 
The evidence was also sufficient for the jury to find that the shooting occurred in furtherance of the assault.  The jury could reasonably conclude that a deadly shooting was a probable consequence of spraying bear spray on people who were acting aggressively, appeared high on methamphetamine, and had access to a weapon.  In fact, Jennings acknowledged that the situation had the potential to turn violent and that his conduct increased the likelihood that violence would occur. 
Based on this testimony, the jury could reasonably have concluded that the fatal shooting was a probable consequence of deploying the bear spray because doing so was likely to provoke and escalate Burton.

To the extent Jennings argues that the bear spray attack was complete before the shooting, and so the shooting could not have been in furtherance of the assault, we disagree.  In interpreting RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b), we do not take a literal view of the in furtherance requirement, and instead ask more simply whether the murder was a probable consequence of the underlying felony. . . .
[Some citations omitted, others revised for style; some paragraphing revised for readability]

Result:  Affirmance of Pierce County Superior Court conviction of Justin Nicholas Jennings for second degree felony murder.
RCW 9.68A.100(1)(b)’S PROHIBITION OF COMMERCIAL SEXUAL ABUSE OF A MINOR DOES NOT APPLY TO CIRCUMSTANCES INVOLVING A STING OPERATION IN WHICH NO ACTUAL MINOR PERSON IS VICTIMIZED

In State v. Majeed, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___ , 2020 WL ___ (Div. III, October 27, 2020), the Court of Appeals reverses defendant’s conviction of “commercial sexual abuse of a minor” in a prosecution that arose out a Craigslist sting operation in which a police officer pretended to be a 13-year-old girl runaway.  

The Majeed Court holds that “commercial sexual abuse of a minor” (RCW 9.68A.100(1)(b)) can only be committed against a real minor person.  The Court compares the usage of the word “minor” without modifiers in the “commercial sexual abuse of a minor” statute, against, on the other hand, the wording of RCW 9.68A.090 prohibiting “Communication with minor for immoral purposes,” which provides in relevant part: 

(1) Except as provided in subsection (2) of this section, a person who communicates with a minor for immoral purposes, or a person who communicates with someone the person believes to be a minor for immoral purposes, is guilty of a gross misdemeanor.  (Emphasis added)   

The Court suggests that the defendant could have been prosecuted for “attempted commercial sexual abuse of a minor” because of the wording of the attempt statute at RCW 9A.28.020(2), which provides:

If the conduct in which a person engages otherwise constitutes an attempt to commit a crime, it is no defense to a prosecution of such attempt that the crime charged to have been attempted was, under the attendant circumstances, factually or legally impossible of commission.

Result:  Reversal of Benton County Superior Court conviction of Yasir M. Majeed for commercial sexual abuse of a minor; affirmance of his conviction for communication with a minor for immoral purposes. 

PREEMPTION CHALLENGE TO SEATTLE GUN-STORAGE ORDINANCE MUST BE ADDRESSED BY THE KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

In Alim v. City of Seattle,  ___ Wn. App. 2d ___ , 2020 WL ___ (Div. I, October 19, 2020), a three-judge Division One panel reverses a King County Superior Court ruling that declined to address, based on technical/non-merits grounds, a statutory preemption challenge to the City of Seattle’s gun-storage ordinance.  The Court of Appeals remands the case for the Superior Court to address on its merits the preemption challenge that is being brought under RCW 9.41.290, which preempts “the entire field of firearms regulation within the boundaries of the state.”   
exceptional sentence based on jury finding that the “offense occurred within sight or sound of the victim’s or the offender’s minor children under the age of eighteen years” applies even if offense occurred WITHin the sight or sound of only one such minor child

In State v. Marjama, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___ , 2020 WL ___ (Div. II, October 6, 2020), the Court of Appeals rules against the appeal of defendant from an exceptional sentence under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(ii) for his first degree manslaughter conviction based on an aggravated domestic violence circumstance. 
Defendant shot and killed his wife while she was holding their infant child.  RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(ii) allows a trial court to impose an exceptional sentence based on a jury finding that the “offense occurred within sight or sound of the victim’s or the offender’s minor children under the age of eighteen years.” The Court of Appeals rejects defendant’s argument that the term “children” in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(ii) is a plural reference and therefore means that the aggravator applies only if two or more minor children witnessed or heard the offense.  The Court concludes that the term “children” in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(ii) includes the circumstance here, where only a single minor child witnessed or heard the offense. 
Result: Affirmance of Clark County Superior Court imposition against Todd Richard Marjama, Jr. of exceptional sentence under 9.94A.535(3)(h)(ii) for his first degree manslaughter conviction.

*********************************
WASHINGTON ATTORNEY GENERAL’S OPINION (AGO 2020 No. 3) ADDRESSES MEANING OF PHRASE, “Federally Licensed Gunsmith,” UNDER Washington’s Background Check Statute  

Washington Attorney General’s Opinion 2020 No. 3 (AGO 2020 No.3) addresses some Washington State statutory provisions in RCW 9.41.113(1) relating to background check requirements and exemptions from the requirements.  RCW 9.41.113(1) provides:

All firearm sales or transfers, in whole or part in this state including without limitation a sale or transfer where either the purchaser or seller or transferee or transferor is in Washington, shall be subject to background checks unless specifically exempted by state or federal law. The background check requirement applies to all sales or transfers including, but not limited to, sales and transfers through a licensed dealer, at gun shows, online, and between unlicensed persons.

RCW 9.41.113(4) sets forth some exemptions.  As relevant to the question addressed in the Attorney General’s Opinion, RCW 9.41.113(4)(f) provides exemptions to the background check requirement, declaring that “[t]his section does not apply to . . . [a] federally licensed gunsmith who receives a firearm solely for the purposes of service or repair, or the return of the firearm to its owner by the federally licensed gunsmith[.]”

AGO 2020 No. 3 concludes that: 

(1) A person licensed as a “dealer” under the federal statute, 18 U.S.C. § 923(a), is a “federally licensed gunsmith” under RCW 9.41.113(4)(f) when engaged in the business of repairing or modifying firearms; and 

(2) A person licensed as a “manufacturer” or an “importer” under the federal statute, 18 U.S.C. § 923(a), is a “federally licensed gunsmith” under RCW 9.41.113(4)(f)  when engaged in the business of repairing or modifying firearms of the type he or she manufactures or imports at the premises where he or she is licensed to manufacture or import them. . 

**********************************
WASHINGTON ETHICS ADVISORY COMMITTEE OPINES THAT A JUDICIAL OFFICER SHOULD NOT ACCEPT A SPECIAL DEPUTY SHERIFF COMMISSION FOR THE PURPOSE OF CARRYING A PERSONAL FIREARM AT A COURTHOUSE CAMPUS

On September 9, 2020, the Washington Ethics Advisory Committee for the Washington Courts  issued Ethics Opinion 20-05 that concludes in its final sentence that “a judicial officer should not be deputized as a Special Deputy Sheriff under a Special Commission, even for the limited purpose of lawfully carrying a firearm to, while at, and from work at the courthouse campus, because it compromises the judicial officer's appearance of independence, integrity, and impartiality.”

**********************************
BRIEF NOTES REGARDING OCTOBER 2020 UNPUBLISHED WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS OPINIONS ON SELECT LAW ENFORCEMENT ISSUES
Under the Washington Court Rules, General Rule 14.1(a) provides: “Unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals have no precedential value and are not binding on any court.  However, unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals filed on or after March 1, 2013, may be cited as nonbinding authorities, if identified as such by the citing party, and may be accorded such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate.”  

Every month I will include a separate section that provides very brief issue-spotting notes regarding select categories of unpublished Court of Appeals decisions that month.  I will include such decisions where issues relating to the following subject areas are addressed: (1) Arrest, Search and Seizure; (2) Interrogations and Confessions; (3) Implied Consent; and (4) possibly other issues of interest to law enforcement (though probably not sufficiency-of-evidence-to-convict issues). 

The 10 entries below address the October 2020 unpublished Court of Appeals opinions that fit the above-described categories.  I do not promise to be able catch them all, but each month I will make a reasonable effort to find and list all decisions with these issues in unpublished opinions from the Court of Appeals.  I hope that readers, particularly attorney-readers, will let me know if they spot any cases that I missed in this endeavor, as well as any errors that I may make in my brief descriptions of issues and case results.  In the entries that address decisions in criminal cases, the crimes of conviction or prosecution are italicized, and descriptions of the holdings/legal issues are bolded.
1. Sara L. Lacy v. Snohomish County:  On October 5, 2020, Division One of the COA disagrees in part and agrees in part with the appeal of plaintiff Ms. Sara Lacy in her King County Superior Court lawsuit against Snohomish County for the death of her husband, Cecil Lacy, Jr..  Cecil attacked officers while experiencing excited delirium.  He was put into a prone position with an officer applying pressure to his back.  Within seconds, Cecil told the officer that he could not breathe.  Less than a minute later, while the officer was continuing to apply pressure to his back, Cecil fell unconscious, and he died very shortly after.  LEGAL UPDATE EDITOR’S NOTE:  The Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals provides a much more detailed description of the evidence.  
The Court of Appeals rejects Ms. Lacy’s negligence theories for failing to provide sufficient allegations to support them.  However, the Court agrees with Ms. Lacy that she should be allowed to take to trial her battery theory to trial.  The Court rules that the Ms. Lacy sufficiently supported her battery theory through a police practices expert who testified that a reasonable officer would have: (1) recognized that Ms. Lacy’s deceased husband was suffering from excited delirium; (2) avoided applying pressure to Cecil’s back while he was in a prone position; and (3) removed the pressure immediately after Cecil said he could not breathe.  The case is remanded for trial on the battery claim.

2. State v. Robert Lee Harris:  On October 5, 2020, Division One of the COA disagrees with the appeal of defendant Harris from his King County Superior Court conviction for delivering methamphetamine.  The Unpublished Opinion could be more clear on the facts, but it appears that the facts are as follows: (A) defendant was arrested by Officer A for selling methamphetamine to Officer A; (B) shortly after the arrest and before giving defendant Miranda warnings, Officer B had a conversation with the defendant that was not recorded andf in which an agreement was reached for defendant to become a confidential informant (Officer B explained in testimony that not recording was to protect the defendant); (C) the agreement did not require an admission of guilt from defendant and promised only that: “(1) police would not book him into jail on that day, and (2) charges would not be referred to the King County Prosecuting Attorney’s Office if the Defendant followed up on his end of the agreement.”  Shortly after Harris signed the agreement, the officer did a consenting, recorded interrogation of Harris.  The Court of Appeals rules that the officer did not violate the rule of Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600, 617(2004) against two-step interrogations, because the defendant was not asked to make and did not make any incriminating statements during the discussion with the officer about his becoming a confidential witness.         
3.  In the Matter of the Personal Restraint of Chris Marion McNicholas:  On October 6, 2020, Division Two of the COA rejects the arguments of McNicholas in his petition for relief from Clark County Superior Court convictions for first degree theft, first degree identity theft, and nine counts of forgery.  The convictions relate to McNicholas taking thousands of dollars from an elderly woman by forging several of her checks under the guise of providing home improvements.  Law enforcement obtained a warrant to search McNicholas’s truck after arresting officers observed documents in his truck related to his unlicensed contracting business.  The Court of Appeals rules that (1) an affidavit supporting a warrant to search McNicholas’s vehicle provided extensive information establishing probable cause to conclude that McNicholas was involved in defrauding elderly victims, and that paperwork and other evidence relating to that scheme would be found in his vehicle; (2) contrary to McNicholas’s argument, RCW 10.105.010 addressing seizure (and forfeiture) of property in some circumstances does not limit admissibility of evidence that is seized under a search warrant; and (3) there was no need to hold a hearing under Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978) to address defendant’s allegations that the warrant affidavit omitted information about an illegal search yielding drugs.  I found some of the analysis by the Court of Appeals on the third issue a bit off track, but I believe that the Court of Appeals reaches the correct result because including such omitted information in the affidavit would not negate probable cause to search the truck for evidence of the forgery-related crimes.   
4.  State v. Reanasha Ann McCord:  On October 6, 2020, Division Two of the COA disagrees with the appeal of McCord from her Thurston County Superior Court conviction for unlawful possession of heroin.  The Court of Appeals rules that, while two of the trial court’s findings of fact are not supported by substantial evidence, the remaining findings of fact  are supported by substantial evidence, and those remaining findings establish an individualized reasonable suspicion that McCord was engaged in criminal activity when she was seized.  The Court of Appeals describes the following facts: (1) a dispatcher transmitted a citizen’s report that occupants of a described vehicle were using heroin in a described vehicle at a particular location; (2) when the responding officer arrived at the location, he saw three women in a car that met the report’s description, and he saw through the gap of an open rear car door that a woman was injecting or preparing to inject herself with what he surmised from his observation and past experience was heroin; (3) he did not observe suspicious behavior  by the other car occupants; and (4) he seized everyone in the car by declaring “Police, show me your hands.”  

The Court of Appeals appears in my personal view to improperly consider as support for the seizure what McCord did immediately after the officer made his declaration.  What happens after a seizure occurs cannot be used to justify the seizure.  But I think that reasonable suspicion was established by the other facts described in the Court of Appeals Opinion. 

On another note, the Court of Appeals includes the following footnote: 
Because we hold that the seizure was proper, we do not address the State’s contentions that McCord was not detained when Miller announced, “‘Police, show me your hands,’” or that McCord’s voluntary consent overcame any illegal seizure.  For the same reason, we do not address McCord’s argument that her later consent to the vehicle search was vitiated by the unlawful seizure.    

5.  State v. Brett Charles Hampton:  On October 6, 2020, Division Two of the COA rejects the arguments of Hampton in his appeal from his Pierce County Superior Court conviction for failing to register as a sex offender.  In 1998, Hampton was convicted in federal court of one count of transporting a minor for prostitution and two counts of transporting an individual for prostitution.  At the time Hampton was released from prison for those crimes, he was not required to register as a sex offender. In 2006, after the law changed to require people convicted of certain sex crimes to provide state governments with information such as their names and current addresses for inclusion on state and federal sex offender registries, Hampton registered as a sex offender as required.  After over a decade of maintaining his registration, Hampton failed to register his address or transient status during a three-month period in 2018, and he was convicted following a bench trial for failing to register as a sex offender.  The Court of Appeals rejects his argument that application of the amended registration statute to him violates the ex post facto clause of either the Washington or federal constitution.
6.  State v. Edward Jon Gunn:  On October 8, 2020, Division Three of the COA rejects the arguments of Gunn in his appeal from a Whitman County Superior Court conviction for possession of methamphetamine.  The Court of Appeals rules that detailed information provided by an informant (following her arrest) to law enforcement was reliable and was corroborated by intelligence and observation sufficiently  to support stopping his car and detaining him on reasonable suspicion that he was in possession of methamphetamine.
7.  State v. Matthew J. Perron:  On October 14, 2020, Division Two of the COA agrees with the appeal of the State of Washington from a Grays Harbor Superior Court order suppressing methamphetamine and heroin, as well as an order dismissing drug possession charges against Perron.  The Court of Appeals rules that, in deciding that an officer did not have reasonable suspicion to make an investigative stop, the trial court erred in considering a document (a CAD log) that was not admitted in evidence.  The case is remanded for a hearing to address whether reasonable suspicion supported the investigative stop.  In a footnote, the Court of Appeals a suggestion to the trial court not to show any bias against the State’s position in any questions posed by the trial court to the key officer in the case:  

We note that the [trial] court asked [the officer] questions in what could be seen as a way to impeach his testimony.  While a trial judge may question witnesses and ask clarifying questions, we remind the court that “‘it must (not) appear that the court’s attitude toward the merits of the cause (is) reasonably inferable from the nature or manner of the court’s statements.’”  State v. Eisner, 95 Wn.2d 458, 463, 626 P.2d 10 (1981) (quoting State v. Carothers, 84 Wn.2d 256, 267, 525 P.2d 731 (1974)).    
8.  State v. Lisa Jean Hurde:  October 14, 2020, Division Two of the COA disagrees with the appeal of defendant and affirms her Clallam County Superior Court conviction for possession of methamphetamine with intent to deliver.  Corrections Officers A, B and C took Hurde from her jail cell on suspicion that she had drugs on her person.  They advised her that she was going to be strip-searched for drugs.  Corrections Officers A and B, both males, asked her in succession if she had illegal drugs on her person.  Hurde initially denied this, but then she admitted that she had something on her.  Officer C, a female who did not at any point in the process ask Hurde any questions about possible illegal conduct, took Hurde to a private area and informed her of the procedures for the strip search.  Hurde then responded by removing a small container from her bra, saying that she had not known what to do with the item when brought to the jail, that she was not using, and that she “had given it to the girls in the tank.”  Hurde was not Mirandized at any point in the process.  The Court of Appeals agrees with the trial court that Hurde’s admission of drug-dealing to Corrections Officer C was a volunteered and voluntary statement that was not produced by questioning or coercion by the officers, and therefore the absence of Miranda warnings does not require suppression of the admission.  
9.  State v. M.D.:  On October 19, 2020, Division One of the COA denies the defendant’s motion for reconsideration of an Unpublished Opinion that was digested in the June 2020 Legal Update as follows:

State v. M.B.D., d.o.b. 05/02/04: On June 22, 2020, Division One of the COA rules against the appeal of M.B.D. from his King County Superior Court conviction for first degree child molestation.  In detailed, fact-intensive analysis under RCW 9A.44.120 and State v. Ryan, 103 Wn.2d 165 (1984), the Court of Appeals rules that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting child hearsay testimony from the victim’s father, mother, and a child forensic interviewer.  
10.  State v. Michael Craig Okler:  On October 19, 2020, Division One of the COA rejects defendant’s challenge to his Snohomish County Superior Court conviction and sentence for failing to register as a sex offender while on community custody.  The Court of Appeals rejects his challenge, framed under the Washington constitution’s ex post facto protections, to the retroactive application of the sex offender registration statutory provisions.
*********************************
LEGAL UPDATE FOR WASHINGTON LAW ENFORCEMENT IS ON WASPC WEBSITE

Beginning with the September 2015 issue, the most recent monthly Legal Update for Washington Law Enforcement is placed under the “LE Resources” link on the Internet Home Page of the Washington Association of Sheriffs and Police Chiefs.  As new Legal Updates are  issued, the three most recent Legal Updates will be accessible on the site.  WASPC will drop the oldest each month as WASPC adds the most recent Legal Update.  

In May of 2011, John Wasberg retired from the Washington State Attorney General’s Office.  For over 32 years immediately prior to that retirement date, as an Assistant Attorney General and a Senior Counsel, Mr. Wasberg was either editor (1978 to 2000) or co-editor (2000 to 2011) of the Criminal Justice Training Commission’s Law Enforcement Digest.  From the   time of his retirement from the AGO through the fall of 2014, Mr. Wasberg was a volunteer helper in the production of the LED.  That arrangement ended in the late fall of 2014 due to variety of concerns, budget constraints and friendly differences regarding the approach of the LED going forward.  Among other things, Mr. Wasberg prefers (1) a more expansive treatment of the core-area (e.g., arrest, search and seizure) law enforcement decisions with more cross references to other sources and past precedents; and (2) a broader scope of coverage in terms of the types of cases that may be of interest to law enforcement in Washington (though public disclosure decisions are unlikely to be addressed in depth in the Legal Update).  For these reasons, starting with the January 2015 Legal Update, Mr. Wasberg has been presenting a monthly case law update for published decisions from Washington’s appellate courts, from the Ninth Circuit of the United States Court of Appeals, and from the United States Supreme Court.  

The Legal Update does not speak for any person other than Mr. Wasberg, nor does it speak for any agency. Officers are urged to discuss issues with their agencies’ legal advisors and their local p[Officer B]cutors.  The  Legal Update is published as a research source only and does not purport to furnish legal advice.  Mr. Wasberg’s email address is jrwasberg@comcast.net.  His cell phone number is (206) 434-0200.  The initial monthly Legal Update was issued for January 2015.  Mr. Wasberg will electronically provide back issues on request.

***********************************
INTERNET ACCESS TO COURT RULES & DECISIONS, RCWS AND WAC RULES

The Washington Office of the Administrator for the Courts maintains a website with appellate court information, including recent court opinions by the Court of Appeals and State Supreme Court.  The address is [http://www.courts.wa.gov/].  Decisions issued in the preceding 90 days may be accessed by entering search terms, and decisions issued in the preceding 14 days may be more simply accessed through a separate link clearly designated. A website at [http://legalwa.org/]  includes all Washington Court of Appeals opinions, as well as Washington State Supreme Court opinions.  The site also includes links to the full text of the RCW, WAC, and many Washington city and county municipal codes (the site is accessible directly at the address above or via a link on the Washington Courts’ website).  Washington Rules of Court (including rules for appellate courts, superior courts, and courts of limited jurisdiction) are accessible via links on the Courts’ website or by going directly to [http://www.courts.wa.gov/court​_rules].  

Many United States Supreme Court opinions can be accessed at [http://supct.law.cornell.edu/supct/index.html].  This website contains all U.S. Supreme Court opinions issued since 1990 and many significant opinions of the Court issued before 1990.  Another website for U.S. Supreme Court opinions is the Court’s own website at [http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/opinions.html].  Decisions of the Ninth Circuit of the U.S. Court of Appeals since September 2000 can be accessed (by date of decision or by other search mechanism) by going to the Ninth Circuit home page at [http://www.ca9.uscourts.gov/] and clicking on “Opinions.”  Opinions from other U.S. circuit courts can be accessed by substituting the circuit number for “9” in this address to go to the home pages of the other circuit courts.  Federal statutes are at [http://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/].  

Access to relatively current Washington state agency administrative rules (including DOL rules in Title 308 WAC, WSP equipment rules at Title 204 WAC, and State Toxicologist rules at WAC 448-15), as well as all RCW’s, is at [http://www.leg.wa.gov/legislature].  Information about bills filed since 1991 in the Washington Legislature is at the same address.  Click on “Washington State Legislature,” “bill info,” “house bill information/senate bill information,” and use bill numbers to access information.  Access to the “Washington State Register” for the most recent proposed WAC amendments is at this address too.  In addition, a wide range of state government information can be accessed at [http://access.wa.gov].  For information about access to the Criminal Justice Training Commission’s Law Enforcement Digest and for direct access to some articles on and compilations of law enforcement cases, go to [cjtc.wa.gov/resources/law-enforcement-digest].
 **********************************
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